Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024

FILED 01-29-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Page 1 of 39

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2023AP001764

MARIO VICTORIA VASQUEZ,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLAIMS BOARD,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER UPHOLDING CLAIMS BOARD DECISION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BROWN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY A. HINKFUSS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

Christopher Lau
Bar No. 1126887
WISCONSIN
INNOCENCE
PROJECT
University of Wisconsin
Law School
975 Bascom Mall
Madison, WI 53706
(608) 264-1354

Judith Cusack Kasim Rana Clinical Law Students

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Board violate Statutory and Constitutional Due Process by precluding Mr. Vasquez from presenting affirmative evidence of his innocence in contravention of Wis. Stat. § 227.57?

The Claims Board and Circuit Court did not address this issue.

 Did the Board err by requiring the wrong standard for Mr. Vasquez to prove his innocence?
 The Circuit Court answered no. The Claims Board held that Mr. Vasquez did

not establish his innocence.

3. Did the Board err by basing its decision on facts unsupported by substantial evidence?

The Circuit Court answered no. The Claims Board based its decision on assertions made by the District Attorney.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because the Claims Board precluded Mr. Vasquez from presenting evidence and because this Court need not defer to the legal conclusions of the Board, Mr. Vasquez requests oral argument, as it will provide post-briefing clarification of the facts and arguments presented in the parties' briefs. See Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b); see also Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. Wis. Dep't of Revenue, 2018 WI 75, 382 Wis. 2d 496, 914 N.W.2d 21.

Given the dearth of published cases on compensation for wrongfully convicted individuals, Mr. Vasquez also requests publication of this Court's opinion. See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(a)1., 2., 5.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Sexual Assault Allegation and Investigation

In February 1998, a four-year-old girl, G.T., who lived at home with her parents, siblings, and Uncle Mario, complained of pain while urinating and, according to her mother, claimed that "Mario" had touched her at the babysitter's house. (6:7). Mr. Vasquez rented a room at the babysitter's house. Despite this allegation, G.T.'s mother brought her to the babysitter's house the next morning and never mentioned the alleged abuse to the babysitter. *Id*. Later at home, G.T.'s symptoms worsened, and she was taken to the hospital for treatment. Id. G.T. repeated to a nurse that "Mario" touched her. Id. A nurse swabbed G.T.'s sores to test for herpes, but a full sexual assault examination was not completed. Id. In subsequent interviews, G.T. made a wide range of statements including that "Mario" touched her with his fingers and penis, and that her uncle (whom she also referred to as "Mario") and her father both had inappropriately touched her. *Id*. After tests confirmed that G.T. had herpes, her mother took her to the police station where G.T., unprompted, stated "My uncle did not touch me." When asked about her contradicting statements, G.T. said "I don't remember. . . It's just Mario." (6:8).

These inconsistencies continued throughout subsequent interviews and questioning. In a videotaped interview with a social worker, G.T.'s Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 10 of 39

statements were further shown to be questionable as she repeatedly could not correctly distinguish between the truth and a lie. When faced with simple lies – that a monkey was a horse, that she was standing when she was sitting, that she was two instead of four – G.T. incorrectly insisted that all were true. (6:85-87). Despite not being able to establish G.T.'s veracity, the social worker continued questioning her. (6:87).

Throughout this interview, G.T. made other unusual statements. When asked who she lived with, G.T. first said "Mario," and when pressed, she once again unprompted stated "No, only my uncle who does not touch me, my uncle does not touch me." (6:82). When asked a question about human anatomy, G.T. responded with "Mario touched me and pushed me so hard and then told me to go." (6:89). Critically, the social worker never asked who Mario was in relation to G.T.

Because G.T. and her family only spoke Spanish, the social worker used a Spanish speaker to translate. Unlike best practices today, the translator had little knowledge of English and limited (if any) training in sensitive forensic interviews. (6:79). This led to errors in both the translation to Spanish and back to English. These issues became very apparent in the social worker interview where "certain questions and answers [were] summarized or embellished in [her] interpretation into Spanish or English." *Id.* In one

instance, the interpreter claimed G.T. said "Mario touched me," when, critically, the correct interpretation of G.T.'s answer would have been, "my uncle touched me." (6:90) (emphasis added). Later, G.T. described her uncle touching her after bathing, but instead of saying uncle, the interpreter "he." (6:93). The interpreter also translated reworded and repeated questions until there was a satisfactory answer from G.T., rather than directly interpreting what had been said. (6:49).

G.T.'s paternal uncle (who was referenced several times in the investigation) lived with G.T. and her family. (6:8).2 In an interview with the police, the uncle admitted that his niece would often call him "Mario." *Id.* When questioned by the police about herpes, "Uncle Mario" stated that he had suffered from sores when in Mexico but denied having herpes. Id. In addition to G.T.'s statement to the police stating that "Uncle Mario" was currently abusing her in 1998, G.T. also told her mother the "Uncle summer that Mario" previous had inappropriately touched her. (6:9). Her mother refused to reach out to the police in response to that report. Id. G.T.'s mother told the babysitter about this allegation, and the babysitter subsequently received a threatening phone call from G.T.'s father. Id. Notably, G.T. also accused her father of abusing

² While G.T. has made several serious allegations of sexual abuse by her uncle over the years, he has never been prosecuted for these crimes. For privacy purposes, the Petitioner will refer to him as "Uncle Mario" throughout this briefing.

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 12 of 39

her; an allegation that G.T.'s mother took so seriously that she changed her work schedule to avoid leaving the father alone with G.T. or her siblings. (6:14).

Despite compelling reasons to believe that "Uncle Mario" was G.T.'s abuser, the police focused their limited investigation on Mr. Vasquez. Throughout the investigation, Mr. Vasquez was cooperative, even offering to undergo additional medical and DNA testing to prove his innocence. (6:10). The police not only failed to explore his innocence claim, but instead narrowed their investigation to Mr. Vasquez at the expense of any other suspects. For example, when presenting G.T. with a photo array, instead of asking G.T. to identify her abuser, they asked her to point to "Mario." (6:9). Unsurprisingly, G.T. – a four-year old – pointed to the picture of Mario Vasquez, the *only* Mario in the photo array. Id. "Uncle Mario" was never included in any photos shown to G.T. *Id*.

B. The Trial and Conviction

At trial, the State's main witness was fouryear-old child G.T. Despite her continued difficulty distinguishing between a truth and a lie, she was allowed to testify. (6:9). G.T. never explicitly identified Mr. Vasquez as her abuser. In fact, G.T. excluded Mr. Vasquez in an exchange with the State, even though Mr. Vasquez was at counsel's table and fully visible to her:

Q: Is Mario in the courtroom?

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 13 of 39

A: No.

Q: Can you look around the courtroom,

[G.T.]?

A: No.

(7:7). During cross-examination, G.T reiterated that her abuser was not present:

Q: Which one is Mario?

A: He's not here.

(Id. (quoting Trial Tr. 179)).

Mr. Vasquez's defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective. Despite promising to do so in opening statement, Mr. Vasquez's counsel never called a psychological expert to explain to the jury the facts of the case that raised significant doubts about the reliability of G.T.'s statements and testimony. (6:15). Defense counsel also failed to properly present G.T.'s "Uncle Mario" as a viable alternate suspect. Instead, the jury heard G.T.'s weak identifications of Mr. Vasquez as a "Mario," as well as unproven accusations that Mr. Vasquez might have had herpes, even though he tested negative in a swab test. (7:8). When called as a State witness, "Uncle Mario" denied under oath that he had herpes, and defense counsel failed to question him further or prove that this was a lie. (6:10). Mr. Vasquez was ultimately convicted and sentenced to twenty years in prison on November 16, 1998.

C. New Evidence and Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 14 of 39

A few months after Mr. Vasquez's conviction, a 31-year-old woman reported to police that she had contracted herpes from "Uncle Mario" during a abusive sexually encounter. (6:27-38).This information was never provided to Mr. Vasquez or his counsel. In 2002, Mr. Vasquez wrote to the police to request records for an appeal. Id. Upon receipt of that request, the police spoke to G.T. again. In that conversation, she picked Mr. Vasquez out of a photo array. She also again told police that "Uncle Mario" had inappropriately touched her and had been kicked out of the house for doing so. *Id*.

In 2014, with the Wisconsin Innocence Project now representing Mr. Vazquez, Dr. David W. Thompson was hired to provide his expert opinion regarding the reliability of G.T.'s accusation against Mr. Vasquez. After reviewing the statements and noting a high number of errors, he opined that, to a high degree of certainty, G.T.'s accusation was unreliable and likely influenced by a host of psychological factors, including misattributing Uncle Mario's actions to Mr. Vasquez. (6:43).

D. Conviction Vacated and Release

In 2014, Mr. Vasquez filed an original and supplemental post-conviction motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06. Before the motion hearing, the District Attorney offered Mr. Vasquez a plea for immediate release, but Mr. Vasquez refused to plead guilty to a crime he did not commit. (6:11).

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 15 of 39

On January 29, 2015, the day before the motion hearing, the State interviewed G.T. She revealed that she had testified falsely that her uncle had not molested her. (6:12). She admitted that her uncle had sexually molested her in 1998 and that her father had sexually molested her throughout her childhood. *Id.* She also said they both had herpes. *Id.* The next day, at the hearing for the motion for a new trial, the District Attorney's office conceded that Mr. Vasquez was entitled to a new trial. The trial court, in accordance with the interest of justice, vacated Mr. Vasquez's conviction. (6:40). Tellingly, the District Attorney's office declined to retry the case. (6:12). Mr. Vasquez spent 16 years in prison before his exoneration.

E. Request for Compensation

In 2022, Mr. Vasquez filed a petition with the Board, seeking reimbursement for attorneys' fees and compensation for the 16 years he wrongfully spent in prison pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 775.05. (6:5-97). The Board heard Mr. Vasquez's petition on October 18, 2022. Prior to the hearing, the Board directed Mr. Vasquez to "not bring new information or documentation to the Claims Board meeting. Board members will not have time to consider new information." (7:19). In contrast, the Board invited the District Attorney to "present sworn testimony and whatever other evidence is essential to permit

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 16 of 39

the Board to decide the merits of the claim." (6:101). At the hearing, as per the Board's directive, Mr. Vasquez briefly summarized his claim, as did the District Attorney. (7:19). The Board asked just one question. *Id*.

On December 16, 2022, the Board released its decision. In the decision, the Board summarized the facts and arguments of both parties and issued a four-sentence decision denying Mr. Vasquez's claim for compensation, finding that he did not "present affirmative evidence of his innocence." (9:22). The Board gave particular weight to the Government's unsubstantiated claim about the victim's continued insistence that Mr. Vasquez was her abuser and concluded that the evidence was not clear and convincing that he was innocent. (9:22).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 775.05(1), "[t]he [C]laims [B]oard shall hear petitions for the relief of innocent persons who have been convicted of a crime." Upon petition and after hearing the evidence, the Board "shall find either that the evidence is clear and convincing that the petitioner was innocent of the crime . . . or that the evidence is not clear and convincing that he or she was innocent." Wis. Stat. § 775.05(3). However, "[t]he findings and the award of the [C]laims [B]oard shall be subject to review as provided in Ch. 227." Wis. Stat. § 775.05(5).

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 17 of 39

On appeal, this Court reviews the decision of the Claims Board de novo. Turnpaugh v. State Claims Bd., 2012 WI App 72, ¶ 1, 342 Wis. 2d 182, 816 N.W.2d 920 (citing to Wisconsin Dep't of Revenue v. Menasha Corp., 2008 WI 88, ¶ 46, 311 Wis.2d 579, 754 N.W.2d 95); School Dist. v. School Dist. Boundary Appeal Bd., 201 Wis. 2d 109, 116, 548 N.W.2d 122, 126 (Ct. App. 1996).

Under Wis. Stat. Chapter 227, this Court should overturn an agency's decision if "the agency has erroneously interpreted a provision of law and a correct interpretation compels a particular action." Wis. Stat. § 227.57(5). A court can overturn an agency's decision if the agency's finding of fact "is not supported by substantial evidence in the record." Wis. Stat. § 227.57(6).

If an agency action was dependent on fact finding at the proceeding, "the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on any disputed finding of fact." Wis. Stat. § 227.57(6). However, the court owes no deference to an administrative agency's conclusions of law. *Tetra Tech EC, Inc.* 2018 WI 75, ¶ 84.

ANALYSIS

I. The Claims Board's Procedures Precluded Mr. Vasquez From Presenting Affirmative Evidence of His Innocence in Contravention of Wis. Stat. 227.57, and the Due Process Clauses of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions.

Due Process requires this Court to overturn the Board's decision. A "fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process'." *Tetra Tech EC, Inc.*, 2018 WI 75, ¶ 64 (citing to *In re Murchison*, 349 U.S. 133, 136 (1955)). "Procedural due process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect against government actions that deprive an individual of life, liberty, or property without due process of the law." *Tetra Tech EC, Inc.*, 2018 WI 75, fn. 36 (citing *Adams v. Northland Equip. Co.*, 2014 WI 79, ¶64, 356 Wis. 2d 529).

The Board's denial of compensation must also be overturned on statutory grounds. If a court finds that the "fairness of the proceedings or the correctness of the action has been impaired by a material error in procedure or a failure to follow prescribed procured," then that court "shall remand the case." Wis. Stat. § 227.57(4). If the Court "finds that the agency has erroneously interpreted a provision of law and a correct interpretation compels

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 19 of 39

a particular action," then the court "shall set aside or modify the agency action" or remand the case. Wis. Stat. § 227.57(5).

The Board violated Mr. Vasquez's Statutory and Constitutional Due Process rights when it precluded him from presenting evidence of his innocence. In refusing to compensate Mr. Vasquez the sixteen years he spent wrongfully incarcerated, the Board gave, as its only reason, that Mr. Vasquez "does not present affirmative evidence of innocence, particularly in light of the victim's continued insistence that he was her abuser." (9:23). Prior to the compensation hearing, the Board informed Mr. Vasquez that the hearing would be "brief and informal" and directed that he "not bring new information or documentation to the Claims Board meeting. Board members will not have time to consider new information." (7:19).

The Board's communication with the District Attorney was vastly different. In contrast to the directive sent to Mr. Vasquez, the Board instead invited the District Attorney to "present sworn testimony and whatever other evidence is essential to permit the Board to decide the merits of the claim." (6:101).

The Board further denied Mr. Vasquez's right to Due Process by failing to provide an impartial forum. Prior to the hearing, the Board communicated that the District Attorney was "in the best position to recommend the correct resolution of

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 20 of 39

this claim." *Id.* In essence, the Board privileged the District Attorney's position over Mr. Vasquez's in the compensation process.

invalidating agency deference. Wisconsin Supreme Court took issue with exactly the type of impartiality evinced by the Board here. In Tetra Tech, the court reinforced the values of Due Process in the agency process, holding "there cannot be a fair trial without a constitutionally acceptable decisionmaker: 'It is, of course, undisputable that a minimal rudiment of due process is a fair and impartial decisionmaker." Tetra Tech EC, Inc., 2018 WI 75, ¶ 64 (quoting Guthrie v. WERC, 111 Wis. 2d 447, 454, 331 N.W.2d 331 (1983)). Reiterating further, the court held that: "Our commitment to this principle is such that we do not accept even the appearance of bias." *Id*.

At minimum, the Board's procedures plainly invite the appearance of bias. Procedures that preclude a petitioner from presenting evidence—and paradoxically deny his claim for its lack thereof—but that invite evidence from the government, while privileging its position, violate the presumption of impartiality required under the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions. As in *Tetra Tech*, the Board's procedures here are "constitutionally unacceptable," and this Court should set aside its finding. *Tetra Tech EC, Inc.*, 2018 WI 75, ¶ 64 (citing *Withrow v. Larkin*, 421 U.S. 35, 47 (1975).

II. The Board's Decision Rests on an Erroneous Interpretation of Law.

A court shall set aside or modify an agency action if "the agency has erroneously interpreted a provision of law and a correct interpretation compels a particular action." Wis. Stat. § 227.57(5). Mr. Vasquez, who is innocent as a matter of law, presented clear and convincing evidence of his innocence. Despite the plain language of the statute, the Board erroneously held Mr. Vasquez to a higher standard.

A. The Board Erroneously Required Mr. Vasquez to Prove His Innocence by a Higher Burden Than Required by Statute

The Board's decision rests on an erroneous interpretation of law. The Board held Mr. Vasquez to a higher standard than the clear and convincing standard required by Statute. Wis. Stat. § 775.05(3). In ruling against Mr. Vasquez, despite the weight of the evidence demonstrating his innocence, the Board failed to apply a clear convincing standard and instead impermissibly required Mr. Vasquez to prove his innocence beyond a reasonable doubt. That, however, is no longer the standard.

The burden on the part of the petitioner of proving innocence by "clear and convincing evidence" is expressly written in Wis. Stat. § 775.05(3). The Board violated the purpose of Wis.

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 22 of 39

Stat. § 775.05 when it used a beyond a reasonable doubt burden to assess Mr. Vasquez's claim. The legislature "carefully and precisely" crafted Wis. Stat. § 775.05 with the purpose that "our-criminaloccasionally convicts innocent iustice system persons" and these individuals should compensated. Turnpaugh, 2012 WI App 72, ¶ 3; see Indus. to Indus. Inc. v. Hillsman Modular Molding, Inc., 2002 WI 51, ¶ 19 n.5, 252 Wis. 2d 544, 644 N.W.2d 236 ("We presume that the legislature 'carefully and precisely' chooses statutory language to express a desired meaning"); Wis. Stat. § 775.05. With this purpose in mind, the legislature intentionally chose to remove the "beyond a reasonable doubt burden" and replace it with the "clear and convincing" burden in 1979. Wis. Stat. § 775.05(3).

The legislature intentionally chose to replace the reasonable doubt standard because it recognized that a whole class of innocent petitioners, like Mr. Vasquez, would be unable to meet the burden through no fault of their own. See Verdoljak v. Mosinee Paper Corp., 200 Wis.2d 624, 633, 547 N.W.2d 602 (1996). In many exonerations, proving innocence beyond a reasonable doubt might only be obtained with DNA evidence. Mr. Vasquez is not at fault for the State's failure to preserve DNA or biological evidence. That no such evidence exists does not erase the years that Mr. Vasquez spent

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2024 Page 23 of 39

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