Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024

FILED 04-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Page 1 of 25

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2023AP1764

MARIO VICTORIA VASQUEZ,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLAIMS BOARD,

Respondent-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BROWN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY A. HINKFUSS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-RESPONDENT WISCONSIN CLAIMS BOARD

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

CHARLOTTE GIBSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1038845

CLAYTON P. KAWSKI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1066228

Attorneys for State of Wisconsin Claims Board

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

ARGUMENT

The Claims Board correctly concluded that Vasquez failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that he was innocent of child sexual assault. The District Attorney's conclusion that Vasquez should receive a new trial was not because the State had concluded he was innocent. To demonstrate a right to compensation under section 775.05, Vasquez had to show more than that he was entitled to a new trial; he needed to bring forward evidence that demonstrated, by clear and convincing evidence, that he was actually innocent of the crime for which he was convicted.

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 13 of 25

The Claims Board properly concluded that Vasquez did not present such a case. Even his assertion that the victim named additional men as having assaulted her during her childhood was not supported by any evidence, but purely his say-so in a brief. More importantly, he provided no evidence that the victim recanted her original testimony about Vasquez's assault, and the District Attorney confirmed that she has continued to assert that Vasquez did sexually assault her. (R. 6:104.) The circuit court agreed, concluding that "the record does not demonstrate Vasquez proved by clear and convincing evidence that he is innocent of the charge." (R. 18:9.)

On appeal, Vasquez raises two new legal arguments and tries again on a third: (1) that the Claims Board violated his due process rights; (2) that the Claims Board applied a "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard; and (3) that it violated the substantial evidence test. The first argument was forfeited; both that argument and the second argument are also undeveloped. And the "substantial evidence" test as Vasquez conceives it does not apply here, particularly where Vasquez himself relied entirely on hearsay.

This Court should affirm.

I. The Claims Board correctly concluded that Vasquez failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that he was innocent of child sexual assault.

Unlike in the circuit court, Vasquez does not identify an issue on appeal as whether the Claims Board acted according to Wis. Stat. § 227.57 in determining that he failed to prove his entitlement to compensation by clear and convincing evidence. Because his brief includes many arguments that would be responsive to that issue, however, the Claims Board addresses them here.

A. The Claims Board provides compensation to individuals who prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that they are innocent.

The Claims Board is authorized to provide compensation to innocent people who have been convicted of a crime. A person may file a petition with the Claims Board and is entitled to submit evidence with the petition. If the Claims Board finds that the petitioner was innocent and did not contribute to bring about the conviction and imprisonment, the Claims Board shall provide compensation in specific statutory amounts. Wis. Stat. § 775.05(4).

The standard to obtain compensation is demanding. To be entitled to compensation, the petitioner must show that the evidence "is clear and convincing that the petitioner was innocent of the crime for which he or she suffered imprisonment." Wis. Stat. § 775.05(3). In cases where the Claims Board has made a finding of innocence, the petitioner provided direct evidence that he was not the perpetrator of the crime.

For example, in the *Holloway* case, a man convicted of two home-invasion sexual assaults provided DNA and blood-type evidence, as well as alibi witnesses, demonstrating that he could not have been the assailant of either victim. (R. 7:30–31.) A similar result occurred in the *Hadaway* case, where DNA evidence excluded the claimant and supported that a different individual committed the crime. (R. 7:32–33.)

In contrast, where a court has concluded only that a new trial was warranted due to ineffective assistance of counsel or other trial error, the Claims Board has not treated that decision as equivalent to a finding that the claimant showed he was innocent by clear and convincing evidence. For example, in *Clements*, the Claims Board found that the claimant had not met his burden where the court of appeals concluded that a jury-instruction error warranted a new trial.

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 15 of 25

(R. 7:34–35.) Similarly, in *Adams*, the court of appeals granted the claimant a new trial on his sexual-assault charges based on ineffective assistance of counsel. The Claims Board denied compensation to Adams, concluding that that determination did not amount to proof that Adams was innocent by clear and convincing evidence. (R. 7:67–68.)

B. The record supports that Vasquez failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that he was innocent of child sexual assault.

Here, the Claims Board correctly concluded that Vasquez failed to satisfy that demanding standard. Under Wis. Stat. § 227.57(7), the facts did not compel a determination that Vasquez proved his innocence by clear and convincing evidence.

In deciding that a new trial was warranted, the District Attorney did not conclude that Vasquez was innocent; to the contrary, the prosecutor continued to believe Vasquez was guilty, and only that there were new issues warranting a new trial. Vasquez asserts that the victim told the District Attorney in 2015 that her uncle and father had also assaulted her during her childhood. But he does not even assert that the victim recanted her testimony that Vasquez *also* assaulted her, and the District Attorney confirmed that she continues to assert that Vasquez did sexually assault her.

Vasquez's basic problem has been that he confuses a right to a new trial with actual innocence. He described to the Claims Board a 2015 interview of Sara by the District Attorney, where Sara asserted that two other men also assaulted her, and he provided the Claims Board with a proposed expert report criticizing the forensic interview of the victim in 1998 and an alternate translation of Sara's trial testimony. But while this "evidence" supported Vasquez's motion for new trial on ineffective assistance of counsel grounds, it does not show that he is innocent. And the Claims

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 16 of 25

Board precedent he looks to is distinguishable; it only illustrates what Vasquez's claim lacks.

C. Vasquez does not argue that the Claims Board failed to make a correct determination based on the facts before it, and the arguments made throughout his brief would not support such a claim.

Vasquez does not present the issue to this Court of whether he can justify reversal under Wis. Stat. § 227.57 based on the Claims Board's consideration of the materials presented in support of the claim. But for purposes of completeness, the Claims Board responds to the assertions made throughout his brief.

1. In light of the victim's assertion that she was assaulted by multiple men, including Vasquez, the possibility of additional perpetrators does not show Vasquez's innocence.

Vasquez asserted in his brief to the circuit court and now to this Court that in a 2015 interview between Sara and the District Attorney's office, Sara indicated she was also sexually assaulted during her childhood by her uncle and father. (App. Br. 24–25; R. 15:5.) The record contains no evidence of this interview other than Vasquez's attorney's description and includes no affidavit. Assuming the information is true, however, it does not prove Vasquez's innocence.

Vasquez's unspoken premise is that if those two men sexually abused her (in his brief to this Court, Vasquez focuses on her uncle), Vasquez could not have. Indeed, he describes the uncle as "a more likely suspect." (App. Br. 27.) But the underlying assumption—that there can be only one perpetrator—is incorrect.

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 17 of 25

This was not a home-invasion sexual assault of an adult, where the victim describes a single incident of assault and a single assailant. Instead, it is a child victim describing events of sexual assault during her childhood, and affirmatively indicating that there were multiple assailants. The potential guilt of other men does not exonerate Vasquez. Vasquez recognizes that Sara has continued to assert to the District Attorney that Vasquez assaulted her during the very interview he relies on.

Vasquez's side-by-side chart in his brief (App. Br. 27) suffers from this same flaw. Its underlying premise is that Sara could only have been assaulted by one of the men, but that is not what she alleged. Further, the comparative facts do nothing to show Vasquez's innocence. Vasquez had access to Sara—she was being cared for by a woman in the home where Vasquez resided. And Vasquez does not deny that lesions on his penis were consistent with a history of herpes.

2. The expert report and alternate translation of Sara's trial testimony provided to the Claims Board did not prove Vasquez's innocence.

Vasquez also presented the Claims Board with an expert report about problems with forensic interview techniques in 1998, when Sara was interviewed. Vasquez argues that "it is entirely possible that [Sara] experienced sexual contact with her father and uncle and misreported her recollection." He also announces, with no explanation of how, that the translation "confirm[s] the many ways [Sara] was subjected to external influence and inappropriate interview techniques." (App. Br. 30.)

These possibilities do not show that Vasquez was innocent, and nothing in the expert report said that. For purposes of Vasquez's motion for new trial, these materials were relevant as part of an argument that Vasquez's trial counsel should have considered these avenues of inquiry and

Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 18 of 25

was ineffective for failing to do so. It is unknown what effect they would have had on the jury.

The proffered expert report (R. 6:44–55) appears to have assumed that if others assaulted Sara, Vasquez could not have, and so materials suggesting that her uncle or father sexually assaulted her must by definition exclude Vasquez. And even so, it did not conclude that what Sara said was untrue:

In summary, there is no way to definitively know whether [Sara's] statements are true statements or untrue statements which resulted from inappropriate interviewing, interviewer bias, source monitoring error, or other influences. However, what is clear and supported by extensive research is that there are a number of factors present in the records of interviews of [Sara] that raise significant questions about the accuracy and reliability of the information provided by this child.

(R. 6:54.) Again, this report was prepared as part of Vasquez's effort to obtain a new trial, not a claim for compensation based on innocence. And Vasquez's assertion that forensic interview techniques have improved since 1998 (App. Br. 28–29) would not show that all child-assault convictions during that period were invalid.

As to the alternative translation, Vasquez argues these documents "give a clear explanation of why Mr. Vasquez was falsely accused," (App. Br. 30), but neither he nor the translation pinpoints mistranslated aspects of Sara's testimony that would show it is untrue (R. 6:79).

Regardless of whether these materials and arguments would have mattered in the criminal case, where the State had to prove Vasquez's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, they are not affirmative evidence of innocence in the matter before the Claims Board, where Vasquez had the burden to show that he is actually innocent by clear and convincing evidence.

3. Vasquez's case is unlike the Claims Board precedent where the Claims Board found an applicant actually innocent despite the victim's continued accusations.

Vasquez recognizes that the victim continues to assert to the District Attorney that she was assaulted by him. (App. Br. 31.) He points out that in two past cases, *Holloway* and *Sanders*, the Claims Board determined that a petitioner showed he was innocent by clear and convincing evidence despite the victim's continued assertion that the person had committed the crime. (App. Br. 31.) The evidence presented by Vasquez is not like the evidence in those two cases.

In *Holloway*, the Claims Board found that a petitioner had proved his innocence even though the victim continued to believe Holloway was the assailant. Holloway was convicted of stranger sexual assault of an adult, where there could be only one perpetrator. That meant that if Holloway had affirmative evidence that someone else committed the crime, he could prove he was innocent. And that was the case: Holloway presented DNA and blood-type evidence, as well as alibi witnesses, that affirmatively demonstrated he could not have been the assailant. (R. 7:30–31.)

Sanders featured the same situation: a case where there was only a single assailant. That assailant turned out to be a different individual with the same name as Sanders; the individual was located and confessed to the crime. (R. 7:69–70.) That individual's guilt meant that Sanders proved his innocence, because they could not both have committed the crime.

Vasquez's case is not a one-time stranger assault where only one person can have committed that single crime. Instead, it involves allegations that the victim was repeatedly assaulted as a child by multiple men in her life. Implicating Case 2023AP001764 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 20 of 25

other men does not mean that Vasquez has shown he is innocent.

Vasquez's case is like *Clements* (R. 7:34–35) and *Adams* (R. 7:67–68), where a defendant was granted a new trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel or other trial errors. The Claims Board denied compensation in both cases, concluding that that determination did not amount to proof that they were innocent by clear and convincing evidence.

II. Vasquez's due process argument is unsupported and not raised to the circuit court.

Vasquez newly argues that his rights of due process were violated by the Claims Board's consideration of his claim on the theory that the Claims Board was biased and precluded him from presenting evidence. (App. Br. 18–20.)

That claim is forfeited because it was not raised below. The "fundamental forfeiture inquiry is whether a legal argument or theory was raised before the circuit court, as opposed to being raised for the first time on appeal." *Townsend v. Massey*, 2011 WI App 160, ¶ 25, 338 Wis. 2d 114, 808 N.W.2d 155. This forfeited issue should not be considered for the first time on appeal.

In addition, even if not forfeited, he offers no support for this theory—the most the Claims Board can discern is that he was not encouraged to present additional evidence to the Claims Board. (App. Br. 35.) But he does not reveal what evidence he would have brought forward had the Claims Board encouraged him to. And he offers no support for his suggestion that he was "preclude[d]" from presenting evidence. (App. Br. 19, 20.) He was free to present evidence to support his clear-and-convincing burden. See Wis. Stat. § 775.05(3) (referring to "hearing evidence on the petition"). The Claims Board liaison's reassurance that the hearing would be informal did not preclude Vasquez from presenting whatever materials he felt would meet his burden of proof.

Vasquez makes much of the fact that the Claims Board wrote to the District Attorney, sending him a copy of Vasquez's claim and asking for any feedback. (App. Br. 19–20.) But the statute requires the Claims Board to send claims to the district attorney and sentencing court. Wis. Stat. § 775.05(2). Vasquez does not assert that the Claims Board had any ex parte contact with either body, and he does not explain how this contact affected any right of due process.

III. Vasquez's standard of review argument is unsupported.

Vasquez announces that the Claims Board required Vasquez to prove his innocence beyond a reasonable doubt. (App. Br. 21–23.) He offers nothing in the Claims Board's decision or proceedings that would support his assertion. The Claims Board's decision cites the proper standard of proof—"clear and convincing evidence" (R. 9:23)—and Vasquez offers nothing in the record indicating the Claims Board failed to follow that standard.

IV. Vasquez's hearsay argument ignores the type of proceeding and the lack of any admissible evidence supporting his new-evidence claim.

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